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  1 

P R O C E E D I N G S 2 

9:33 A.M. 3 

TELECONFERENCE 4 

FRIDAY, JULY 10, 2020 5 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  This is an emergency meeting of 6 

the California Horse Racing Board, conducted by 7 

teleconference, pursuant to Executive Order N-29-20.   8 

  Participating in this meeting are: myself, 9 

Gregory L.  Ferraro, Chairman; Oscar Gonzales, Vice 10 

Chairman; Dennis Alfieri, Commissioner; Damascus 11 

Castellanos, Commissioner; Wendy Mitchell, Commissioner; 12 

and Alex Solis, Commissioner. 13 

  We are joined by: Mr. Scott Chaney, Executive 14 

Director of the California Horse Racing Board; Cynthia 15 

Alameda, Assistant Director of the California Horse Racing 16 

Board; Robert Brodnik, Chief Counsel; Amanda Brown, Staff 17 

Attorney; and Amanda Drummond, Manager of Policy and 18 

Regulations. 19 

  The statute requires that before the commencement 20 

of the emergency meeting the Board shall make a finding in 21 

open session that the delay necessitated by providing the 22 

ten-day notice required by Section 11125 of the Government 23 

Code or 48-hours before a meeting by required by Section 24 

11125.4 of the Government Code would significantly and 25 
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adversely impact the Board’s ability to protect the health 1 

and safety of horses and riders that are present at that 2 

racing meeting.  The finding must be adopted by a vote of 3 

at least four members of the Board.  Failure to adopt the 4 

findings shall eliminate the meeting. 5 

  Before proceeding with my opening remarks, we 6 

will deal with that requirements.  As such, as Chairman, I 7 

make a motion that in order to protect the health and 8 

safety of horses and riders participating in racing and 9 

training at Los Alamitos Race Course should be -- we should 10 

waive the ten-day noticing requirement and proceed with the 11 

emergency meeting of the Board. 12 

  Do I have a second for that motion? 13 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Damascus.  Second. 14 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Okay.  Commissioner Gonzales? 15 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  Aye. 16 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Alfieri? 17 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  Yes. 18 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Castellanos? 19 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Aye. 20 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Mitchell? 21 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Aye. 22 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Solis? 23 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  Yes. 24 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  And Commissioner Ferraro votes 25 
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yes.  We will move forward with our meeting.  1 

  The Board invites comment on matters appearing on 2 

the meeting agenda.  This emergency meeting has just one 3 

agenda item, which is the consideration of whether to 4 

suspend or impose -- suspend racing or impose conditions on 5 

the license of Los Alamitos Quarter Horse Racing 6 

Association for the current meeting scheduled to run 7 

through December 22nd, 2020.  The Board will only allow 8 

public comment specifically related to this agenda item. 9 

  Procedurally, the Board will first hear from 10 

those directly involved in the agenda item, after which I 11 

will invite public comment on the agenda item.  Those 12 

wishing to speak must follow the directions of the operator 13 

to have their individual phone lines open for comment. 14 

  There will be 30 minutes time limit for public 15 

comment.  In order to allow as many individuals to speak as 16 

possible within that half-hour, I will strictly enforce a 17 

two-minute time limit for each unsolicited speaker.  If the 18 

speaker strays off topic, I will ask the operator to move 19 

on to the next caller. 20 

  During all public comment, a bell will be rung 21 

after the first 90 seconds, meaning that the speaker has 30 22 

seconds remaining to conclude his or her remarks.  The 23 

Board may ask questions of the individuals who speak which 24 

may extend their two-minute time limit. 25 
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  Also, public commenters should be aware that 1 

their comments, while will be taken with due consideration, 2 

do not constitute testimony. 3 

  And with that, I would ask Mr. Scott Chaney to 4 

please present his opening statement. 5 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  Thank you, Mr. 6 

Chairman.  This is Scott Chaney. 7 

  As Rule 1435 requires, in order to have this 8 

meeting, requires a petition by the Executive Director or 9 

the Equine Medical Director, in this instance I filed a 10 

petition with the Board and noticed Los Alamitos yesterday 11 

morning with respect to the hearing today and, really, just 12 

laid out -- and it was accompanied by a declaration of my 13 

own.  It was accompanied with a few facts, with some data 14 

over the last two years, and I’ll just sort of summarize 15 

that now. 16 

  The numbers that were -- it appears that there 17 

has been an increase in equine fatalities, especially over 18 

the last six months at Los Alamitos, and particularly 19 

within the last 30 to 40 days.  The numbers I cite in the 20 

declaration and the petition were that from January 1st to 21 

today, actually, it was July 5th, so a little over six 22 

months, this year there were 14 equine racing-related 23 

fatalities and 5 training ones.  In that same period last 24 

year there were four training fatalities as opposed to five 25 
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racing fatalities.  So, in other words, in the same period 1 

last year the number of racing fatalities has increased 2 

from 5 to 14 this year, nearly a threefold increase. 3 

  More recently, in an 18-day period, June 18th to 4 

July 5th, there were five racing and training deaths.  And 5 

in a 30-day period recently, June 7th to July 5th, there 6 

were six racing and training fatalities.  You know, all of 7 

these represent increases over the last year. 8 

  The -- I mean, to be fair, to give kind of a 9 

balanced picture to the Board, in terms of looking at the 10 

last two fiscal years, you know, obviously, this just ended 11 

a few days ago, the number of racing and training 12 

fatalities at Los Al has been somewhat consistent.  I 13 

don’t, you know, know whether that’s a good thing or a bad 14 

thing.  My view is it’s not particularly great, given all 15 

the measures that we, the Board, has undertaken in order to 16 

decrease the number.  You know, holding stakes is probably 17 

not what we’re going for.  18 

  But it is important to know that those, if you 19 

look at, you know, a larger time frame, those numbers have 20 

remained the same.  The last six months are the ones that 21 

are -- that is particularly troublesome as compared to last 22 

year.  And then, again, the last 30 to 40 days, it seems 23 

like it’s going in the wrong direction. 24 

  Therefore, I filed this petition to give the 25 
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Board a chance to consider if anything should be done with 1 

Los Alamitos’s license. 2 

  That’s all I have, Mr. Chairman. 3 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 4 

  Do we have comments from Los Al please? 5 

  MR. MARTEN:  There’s nobody in queue there.  Let 6 

me look here.  It looks like Drew Couto might be.  He 7 

signed in as Los Alamitos Quarter Horse Racing Association. 8 

  Operator, could you tell Mr. Couto how to -- 9 

  OPERATOR:  Press star one in that queue and we 10 

can open up your line now.  Again, that’s star one. 11 

  MR. MARTEN:  Okay. 12 

  MR. COUTO:  Los Alamitos Quarter Horse Racing 13 

Association.  I am here at Los Alamitos with Dr. Ed Allred 14 

and Jack Liebau.  Good morning, Commissioners.  Good 15 

morning, Executive Director. 16 

  I’d like to begin by thanking the Horse Racing 17 

Board for allowing Los Alamitos to present some information 18 

in response to Mr. Chaney’s declaration and to ensure the 19 

Board that Los Alamitos wholeheartedly supports the Board’s 20 

commitment to ensuring the safety of every horse and rider 21 

that participates in racing at the facility. 22 

  On this short notice and with very little 23 

information as to the basis of this action, we spent the 24 

last 24 hours vigorously attempting to understand the basis 25 
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of the Horse Racing Board’s concerns.  We began by looking 1 

at Rule 1435 to understand its intent and objective and 2 

understood that the rule is focused on an examination where 3 

an above average of number of injuries to horses and riders 4 

participating in a race meeting occurs that creates 5 

concerns regarding the safety of horse and rider. 6 

  So we began by looking to Los Alamitos’s 7 

performance over the last two fiscal years and noted that 8 

for the Fiscal Year 2018-19 the combined racing and 9 

training fatalities at Los Alamitos was, actually, higher 10 

than it was for the current fiscal year.  And that 11 

reflected a decrease that has been occurring at Los 12 

Alamitos since 2008 based on the information provided by 13 

the Horse Racing Board in its annual reports since that 14 

point in time.  So we’ve seen a prolonged history at Los 15 

Alamitos, since 2008, of decreasing racing and training 16 

fatalities. 17 

  What we noted in Mr. Chaney’s declaration was 18 

concern regarding other fatalities, those that are not 19 

attributed by the Horse Racing Board to racing or training 20 

activities.  And as we were able to piece together 21 

overnight, we understand that of those 21 other fatalities, 22 

10 were identified by the Horse Racing Board as related to 23 

gastrointestinal issues, or colic, 3 were unidentified 24 

musculoskeletal issues, 3 were also identified as unknown 25 
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causes, 2 were respiratory, 1 neurological, and 1 systemic. 1 

 None of those were identified as racing or training 2 

related.  So of those 21, we were trying to correlate some 3 

direct connection to racing activities, some injuries 4 

sustained there.  We were unable to do that. 5 

  With regard to the clusters cited by Mr. Chaney, 6 

we noted that they didn’t differ from the clusters 7 

experienced at Santa Anita between January 7th and 19th or 8 

between January 7th and February 12th.  It appeared, if 9 

just looking at racing -- disclosed racing and training 10 

fatalities at Santa Anita during that period of time, that 11 

the frequency and number were consistent between the two 12 

racing associations in the same period of time. 13 

  So clusters occur and they are perceived by Los 14 

Alamitos as exceedingly unfortunate and of great concern.  15 

Every time they occur they are examined by track 16 

management, in particular, the track crew to determine if 17 

there are any issues related to the track that may be 18 

causing those. 19 

  So we want to assure, again, the Horse Racing 20 

Board that anytime there is a cluster there is an internal 21 

effort, independent of the CHRB, hopefully, to identify any 22 

causes any causes that may be of concern here.  But those 23 

clusters were no different from those identified at Santa 24 

Anita. 25 
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  We also compared the fatalities that occurred at 1 

Santa Anita in the same period of time to those that 2 

occurred at Los Alamitos this year and noted that there 3 

were 16 occurring in the same period of time at Santa 4 

Anita, 19 at Los Al.  But we also noted that Los Al ran 5 

live race meets through the entire period of time with at 6 

least 100 more races conducted at Los Al than were 7 

conducted at Santa Anita. 8 

  So, oh, also, we noted that within -- one of the 9 

fatalities noted within the cluster was identified on the 10 

other fatality list as a sudden death.  And so it’s not 11 

identified as a racing or training fatality but a sudden 12 

death, which we’re trying to determine if that was a heart 13 

attack or some other death that we’re not certain exactly 14 

what the cause.  We do not have the necropsy. 15 

  So, again, our concern was that the cluster did 16 

not appear to differ from those clusters identified at 17 

Santa Anita, that overall, the numbers at Santa Anita from 18 

injuries related to racing and training were down for this 19 

fiscal year, and that, overnight, our efforts to determine 20 

correlations between the increase in other fatalities and 21 

some activity that the Racing Association may have 22 

undertaken or may have failed to undertake, we could not 23 

identify that.  But we are more than willing to work with 24 

the Racing Board to identify it but we’re confident that 25 
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those colics, those unidentified musculoskeletal or unknown 1 

causes, are not related to any activity undertaken by Los 2 

Alamitos as a licensed racing association, and they were 3 

not racing or training related. 4 

  Are there any questions? 5 

  I would only remark that comparison of fatalities 6 

at Los Al to those at Santa Anita are really not a defense 7 

for the excessive numbers of fatalities.  Guilt by one 8 

doesn’t necessarily obviate guilt by the other. 9 

  Do we have any questions from the Board Members 10 

for Mr. Couto? 11 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Yes.  This is Damascus 12 

Castellanos.  A question. 13 

  My question is, as far as -- you mentioned in 14 

your statement that you had some fatalities that were 15 

related to racing.  What was that number again versus your 16 

fatalities in the stable area or fatalities due to 17 

training?  What were the numbers for just during racing? 18 

  MR. COUTO:  As we understand, the racing-related 19 

fatalities for both this fiscal year and last fiscal year 20 

were 23 at Los Alamitos each year. 21 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Okay.  22 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  And, Mr. Couto, Alex -- 23 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  I’m taking notes 24 

(indiscernible). 25 
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  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  -- Alex Solis here, Mr. 1 

Couto.  I just -- my question is: What’s the fatality rate 2 

of the night racing and the day racing?  Do you have any 3 

numbers on those? 4 

  MR. COUTO:  I do not currently.  I do not have a 5 

breakdown between the evening race card and the day card, 6 

although -- no, I do not.  And -- 7 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  Okay.  Because -- yes, go 8 

ahead. 9 

  MR. COUTO:  For the Chairman, I just wanted to 10 

respond to your observation about trying to defend 11 

ourselves in relationship to Santa Anita.  That was not the 12 

objective.  The objective was to identify the statute -- or 13 

I should say the rule relates to the average number of 14 

injuries.  And so we’re trying to, in the context of 15 

average, identify.  There’s an average at Santa Anita.  16 

There’s an average at Los Alamitos.  And if you look 17 

between the race courses the average at Santa Anita and the 18 

average at Los Al, the average at Los Al is not 19 

substantially different considering that they ran 100 20 

additional days and if -- sorry, 100 additional races. 21 

  So that was my point, not to say two wrongs, you 22 

know, make a right but to say that on average there’s not a 23 

significant difference. 24 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Do you have, given the number of 25 
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injuries you’ve had this year and have traditionally had, 1 

post our notice, have you put together any kind of a plan 2 

of action or procedure that would attempt to decrease these 3 

injuries going forward? 4 

  MR. COUTO:  Well, with regard to injuries and 5 

other, at least at Los Al, we have at least, you say  6 

with -- let me step back. 7 

  The notice came back yesterday, so we’ve been 8 

working on this yesterday, overnight and this morning.  And 9 

we have, in our mind, as we worked through this, since this 10 

is sort of a first impression, I think, for everybody, for 11 

the Board and for our Racing Association, we’ve tried to 12 

identify those fatalities that qualify as injuries under 13 

the regulation.  And injuries as the racing associations 14 

have always are those that occur during racing and 15 

training.  And then there has been another category long 16 

identified as other.  17 

  And so what Los Al has always done is reviewed 18 

every racing and training fatality and reviewed that 19 

fatality in the context of any activities on the racetrack 20 

in terms of management of the surface of procedures and 21 

determine if they can find a correlation between something 22 

done or not done that may have contributed to an injury or 23 

fatality.  That’s something they do internally. 24 

  With regard to the others, which seem to be of 25 
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significant concern to Mr. Chaney, there has been quite a 1 

bit of discussion, I would say, overnight at Los Al as to 2 

what may be the cause of that.  And it’s ongoing here.  You 3 

know, we wish we could say we came up with a solution 4 

overnight as to how to deal with the other issue, since he 5 

noticed this increase, and there are ideas flowing as 6 

recently as five minutes before the call on how we might go 7 

about addressing that.  But we think if that is something 8 

that is of significant concern to the Horse Racing Board, 9 

that is something that could be addressed here. 10 

  Los Al has always been of the belief that the 11 

purpose of reporting the fatalities to the Board for all 12 

these years, being completely transparent, was to assist 13 

the industry and the Board in terms of researching and 14 

understanding all of the fatalities connected with 15 

activities at the Racing Association, so they’ve been 16 

completely transparent.  They have disclosed every racing, 17 

training, and other fatality so that research could be 18 

conducted and, hopefully, improvements made for the 19 

industry as a whole.  They plan to continue doing that, 20 

give the good news, give the bad news, bear whatever comes 21 

from that. 22 

  At the same time, they will work with the Board, 23 

if there is some concern.  If there are ways to improve the 24 

frequency of other fatalities occurring here, they will 25 
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work with the Board, they’re committed to doing that. 1 

  They have been, as reflected by the data from the 2 

Horse Racing Board, since 2008, steadily decreasing racing 3 

and training fatalities year after year after year.  And 4 

this fiscal year is no different.  It may have been a 5 

modest decrease but it was a decrease.  And but for this 6 

recent cluster, and we all know, unfortunately, sometimes 7 

fatalities occur in clusters, this year was on target to be 8 

an exceptionally safe year but we did have a cluster and 9 

they have been looking at that. 10 

  But even with that -- 11 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  This is Commissioner -- 12 

  MR. COUTO:  -- it was a better year -- 13 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  Go ahead. 14 

  MR. COUTO:  -- than prior years. 15 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  Commissioner Alfieri.  My 16 

question is: In this recent cluster, you’ve had five horses 17 

die on the main track, euthanized, because of the main 18 

track in the stretch, is there an issue, with injuries, is 19 

there an issue with the track?  Is there?  Have we looked? 20 

Is there a problem with the surface?  Is there a problem 21 

with -- I’d like to understand that better? 22 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  Mr. Chairman, 23 

this is Dr. Arthur.  I would like to make a comment 24 

relative to this petition.  I think this is -- I have some 25 
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information, I think, that would be relevant to 1 

Commissioner Alfieri’s comments. 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead. 3 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  Okay.  For the 4 

record, as Equine Medical Director, I declined to join the 5 

Executive Director in requesting this hearing.  I’ve 6 

monitored equine fatalities very closely in my 14 years as 7 

Equine Medical Director and have observed the ebb and flow 8 

of these numbers for years. 9 

  To that point, there were two Quarter Horse 10 

racing fatalities in March, and then we didn’t have another 11 

for nearly three months, and then we had three in ten days. 12 

We could have another tonight or we could have -- just as 13 

likely go another three months before we see another 14 

Quarter Horse fatality.  Nevertheless, every fatality is 15 

concerning and trends are important.  16 

  In his declaration the Executive Director 17 

presented recent data.  That’s fine and appropriate.  But 18 

as he pointed out, for the 12 months in Fiscal Year 1920 19 

[sic], Los Alamitos had the same number of racing 20 

fatalities as they did the previous fiscal year, one less, 21 

actually, with more starts. 22 

  The frustration, I share that, is that it Los 23 

Alamitos had a very good calendar year in 2019 from January 24 

to December.  So far, 2020 has been a step backwards in 25 
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June, and the first weeks in July especially so.  But while 1 

commonalities were discernible at Santa Anita last year in 2 

2019, based on necropsies and other factors, we don’t have 3 

any similar information for these fatalities at this time. 4 

  All horses dying at CHRB facilities are 5 

necropsied and CHRB conducts investigations on those 6 

fatalities.  CHRB investigators are just now putting those 7 

investigations together. 8 

  And as a reminder, as of July 1st, the new Rule 9 

1846.6 requires the fatality reviews with trainers and 10 

other licensees.  And that process has already started on 11 

the recent fatalities after July 1st. 12 

  As for the Los Al track, I’ve spoken with CHRB 13 

Official Veterinarian doctor at Los Alamitos, Dr. Beck.  He 14 

has no concerns with the track surface.   15 

  Los Alamitos Track Veterinarian Dr. Fitzgerald, 16 

who we’re very fortunate to have at Los Alamitos, has no 17 

concerns with the track surface. 18 

  CHRB Safety Steward David Nuesch, who is 19 

responsible for taking track surface measurements for the 20 

CHRB at Los Alamitos, has not concerns and tells me the 21 

track surface measurements have been very consistent 22 

throughout the spring. 23 

  Racing Secretary says the trainers aren’t 24 

complaining.  And Track Consultant, Dennis Moore, who was 25 
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there every day during the recently completed thoroughbred 1 

meet, says the track is in great shape. 2 

  I see no evidence there is a problem with Los 3 

Alamitos’s track. 4 

  What I do see from preliminary necropsy findings 5 

and what I have reviewed on these cases so far are the same 6 

problems we see everywhere in racing, questionable training 7 

and horse management and questionable veterinary practices. 8 

For whatever reasons, those have been especially 9 

problematic this year at Los Alamitos.  That has to change 10 

but this is not a Los Alamitos problem.  11 

  We have two items on Thursday’s agenda to address 12 

what I see are further steps in the fundamental reforms to 13 

racing this Board has already undertaken.  One is the long 14 

overdue continuing education requirement for trainers.  And 15 

the other is additional regulations on intra-articular 16 

injections. 17 

  As the Chairman knows, in addition to what is on 18 

the agenda for Thursday, I would like to see restrictions 19 

on multiple intra-articular injections, and particularly 20 

multiple intra-articular injections of cortisone, which we 21 

see more commonly at Los Alamitos than other tracks.  My 22 

expectation is a proposed regulation can be brought before 23 

the Board as soon as August. 24 

  But to be clear, I do not believe Los Alamitos is 25 
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an unsafe track. 1 

  Thank you.  Happy to answer any questions. 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Any questions?  Any questions 3 

from the Board for Dr. Arthur? 4 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  This is -- 5 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  (Indiscernible.) 6 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  -- Commissioner 7 

Castellanos. 8 

  Oh.  Go ahead, Oscar. 9 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  Okay.  We appreciate the 10 

work of the stewards to Los Al and across the state.  They 11 

do a great job of keeping us Commissioners updated via 12 

accident reports.  These are an important pool for us.  We 13 

get them almost in real time. 14 

  One incident in particular stood out that 15 

involved -- we’ve been talking about the safety of horses 16 

but I want to talk about the safety of jockeys. 17 

  On June 27th, the first race, while a horse went 18 

down and was euthanized, there was a jockey, Edgar Payeras, 19 

who was injured.  He had to take his mounts off of the 20 

following day. 21 

  I just also want to stress that in addition to 22 

making sure that horses are safe, that we also called this 23 

meeting because we are also and equally concerned about the 24 

safety and welfare of jockeys. 25 
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  So, to Los Alamitos, I just want to, you know, 1 

just more of a statement than a question, is as you go 2 

about presenting during the rest of this meeting, it would 3 

be great to hear about some of the safety measures.  4 

Because while every incident report that we get about a 5 

horse going down, I immediately want to find out about the 6 

safety of the jockey aboard.  They’re equally as important, 7 

so let’s make sure this conversation includes -- that it’s 8 

a holistic conversation that includes a conversation about 9 

protecting our jockeys. 10 

  That’s my statement. 11 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Castellanos, do you 12 

have something to say? 13 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Yes.  I was just 14 

curious, this is, I guess, maybe for Dr. Arthur and Los Al. 15 

  Looking at the report, as Oscar says, that we do 16 

get, is there any more attention that is made if some of 17 

these or a lot of these fatalities are coming from one 18 

trainer or owner?  Are we looking at that a little 19 

differently because of the fact that it’s kind of -- you 20 

know, the numbers are a little high amongst the 21 

trainer/owner? 22 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  We certainly 23 

track who the trainer is.  They’re fairly well distributed 24 

this year at Los Alamitos.  I will say, last year, when one 25 
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trainer had four fatalities, Dr. Allred actually refused to 1 

take entries from that trainer for a period of time.  And 2 

this record has certainly improved since then. But we track 3 

all of those. 4 

  And in terms of the fatality investigations, we 5 

have several pending for this year already that, I think, 6 

could be very interesting as to how those will come out.  7 

But we do track all that information. 8 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Castellanos -- 9 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  The  10 

interesting --  11 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  -- with a question. 12 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  -- the 13 

interesting thing with the -- as I said earlier, when you 14 

look at, for example, as a comparison, and I’m just using 15 

this as an example, was at Santa Anita we had 19 out of 22 16 

musculoskeletal fatalities that were associated with the 17 

fetlock joint.  At Del Mar -- or at Los Alamitos this meet 18 

in the last month, for example, those have been 19 

distributed, about half of them fetlocks, half of them 20 

other problems.  And I do, by the way, even though I 21 

understand what Drew Couto has mentioned about sudden 22 

deaths, sudden deaths are a racing and training fatality. 23 

But they have been distributed as we would see normally. 24 

  But we certainly have seen some unusual cases at 25 
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Los Alamitos this year.  And by unusual, I don’t mean 1 

suspicious, I mean they are just oddities and very 2 

unfortunate oddities.  I’m not diminishing the importance 3 

of them but there’s certainly nothing that you can put your 4 

finger on to say, ah, if we do this, we’re going to solve 5 

the problem, except for, as I mentioned, the multiple 6 

intra-articular injections that, for some reason, are so 7 

common in Quarter Horses to Los Alamitos. 8 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  And this is Alex -- 9 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  And so are --  10 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  -- Alex Solis. 11 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Alex, let me finish my 12 

thought here please. 13 

  So -- 14 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  Yes.  Go ahead. 15 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  -- this is 16 

Castellanos. 17 

  So with that, so with that answer that you’re 18 

saying, I just want to kind of understand this, so if we’re 19 

looking at it in a point of, let’s say, medication and 20 

other things, then the track -- I just kind of want to -- 21 

this is for my head here, so I want to make sure that the 22 

track is not the issue in this case, or not make sure but I 23 

want to understand that the track is not something we need 24 

to completely focus on.  We’ve got, maybe, something else 25 
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that’s going on as far as these, let’s say, unusual cases 1 

that have nothing to do with the track?  Is that a clear 2 

understanding or am I understanding that correctly? 3 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  In my 4 

professional opinion, looking at the data, and with all the 5 

interviews of people I think would be important to 6 

understand, I see no evidence that it is a track surface 7 

problem. 8 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Thank you. 9 

  Go ahead, Mr. Solis. 10 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  Okay.  Yeah.  Thank you.  11 

Sorry about that.  12 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  That’s okay. 13 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  My only question was that if 14 

anybody had the numbers of fatalities during racing days 15 

and nights?  And my understanding was reading the reports 16 

of horses breaking down.  It seems to me that the claiming 17 

rate at night is a lot lower than during the day. 18 

  So then my other question is where these -- most 19 

of these horses have come from, from which stay have we 20 

checked them out really good and to make sure that they’re 21 

healthy and so on?  22 

  Like I say again, the claiming rate is a lot 23 

lower at night than during the day.  If you can look into 24 

that and see where the horses are coming from?  25 
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  Thank you. 1 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Mr. Couto, I’d just like to 2 

elicit some additional comments from you. 3 

  Could you explain to us what you pre-race 4 

procedures are in terms of inspecting these horses that are 5 

going to run?  It seems to me, and from what I’ve learned 6 

since I’ve been on the Commission, is that the more eyes on 7 

a horse -- on the horses before they run the less likely 8 

you are to have injury rates. 9 

  As you know, the thorough tracks have the 10 

Governor’s Panel who approved any horses before they can 11 

start in terms of soundness, past performance records, 12 

things like that.  Santa Anita and Del Mar have spotters on 13 

the track in the morning looking for sore horses. 14 

  Do you have any of those procedures in place?  15 

And do you think that those could be appropriately used at 16 

Los Alamitos? 17 

  MR. COUTO:  Drew Couto here. 18 

  Chairman Ferraro, Dr. Fitzgerald would be better 19 

able to explain in detail what it is that Los Alamitos 20 

does.  I can tell you that they do have procedures.  21 

Everyone around the table has confirmed that they do have 22 

comparable procedures.  I, myself, cannot articulate those 23 

but Dr. Fitzgerald can.  He may be on the phone -- or, 24 

sorry, she may be on the phone.  Maybe we’ll try and get 25 
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her on. 1 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Operator, is Dr. Fitzgerald in 2 

the queue? 3 

  OPERATOR:  I do not see her.  4 

  Dr. Fitzgerald, please press star one if you’re 5 

on the line. 6 

 (Background conversation) 7 

  MR. COUTO:  She’s texted us she’s on, so we’re 8 

trying to get word to her to press star one. 9 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Okay.  10 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  I will say -- 11 

this is Dr. Arthur again.  I will say that I consider Dr. 12 

Fitzgerald one of our better pre-race examiners.  I have 13 

tremendous confidence in her but she is the only person 14 

doing pre-race examination.  She does have the advantage, 15 

as compared to other tracks, where they have night racing, 16 

so she has a longer period to examine those horses.  But 17 

she is looking to the entire card herself. 18 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  Can you hear me? 19 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes.  Go ahead please. 20 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  This is Dr. Fitzgerald. 21 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Good morning.  Could you explain 22 

to us -- 23 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  Yeah. 24 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- what the basic pre-race 25 
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examination procedures are at Los Al and who does them -- 1 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  Sure. 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- and how many -- how much help 3 

you have? 4 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  I do all of the exams each 5 

morning.  And the pre-race exams are conducted exactly the 6 

same as they are at Santa Anita.  I have filled in over at 7 

Santa Anita and done pre-race exams there.  So it’s exactly 8 

the same except it’s a little bit easier for me to do more 9 

horses than they do at Santa Anita or Del Mar because I 10 

have an assistant.  So my assistant mans the computer, the 11 

iPad that has all the information on it, and I only have to 12 

focus on the horses.  So I watch the horses jog.  I palpate 13 

and flex all the horses while I relay to her the 14 

information and she puts it into the system.  15 

  Doing it both ways I can say that having to -- 16 

before when we had the health cards and we wrote it in 17 

versus now when have an iPad and put it in digitally, if 18 

I’m doing the secretarial work and the examining portion, I 19 

spend half my time doing the secretarial work and get a  20 

lot -- get distracted from my exam. 21 

  So I, as opposed to, you know, Santa Anita, I can 22 

look at more horses.  Because I know that’s come up before 23 

where it’s -- you know, there’s so many horses to look at. 24 

But I can do it more effectively with my assistant that is 25 
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doing all of the paperwork associated with it. 1 

  All of the horses jog away.  They all jog to me. 2 

They jog multiple times if they need to or are two fresh 3 

and not minding their manners.  The legs are flexed, 4 

palpated, checked for heat, you know, just as they do exams 5 

at the other racetracks, it’s the same.  We start our 6 

morning exams at seven o’clock.  It typically takes me 7 

until 11 or 12 o’clock in the morning to go through the 8 

barn area and do those exams, sometimes later if we have 9 

trials.  But it’s pretty much the same. 10 

  And we had -- I know as Dr. Arthur had pointed 11 

out that, you know, in the calendar year of 2019, we had an 12 

amazing year.  We had, as far as I know, ten racing 13 

fatalities that year.  We were way below average.  And I 14 

actually -- we sat down and put all the numbers together 15 

because the numbers can be misleading as far as 16 

thoroughbred fatalities and Quarter Horse fatalities 17 

because we run so many 875 yard races and mixed breed 18 

races.  And we put all the numbers together and counted, 19 

literally, every thoroughbred that ran and every Quarter 20 

Horse that ran and our numbers across the board were great. 21 

  And we have had that cluster recently, which is 22 

alarming, I completely agree.  I take it very seriously.  I 23 

do agree with the term of cluster.  I’ve spoken with Dr. 24 

Arthur about those, you know, because I’m one of the few 25 
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people on the line, I guess, that is I saw the horses in 1 

the morning, I put my hands on the horses in the morning, 2 

and I had to attend to those horses in the evening at the 3 

races.  And these current -- you know, we had a shoulder 4 

fracture in a first-time starter, two-year-old Quarter 5 

Horse that just is very, I’ve found, very difficult to 6 

predict.  And of the horses that have happened in this 7 

cluster recently, they were not on any kind of radar.  They 8 

were not suspicious in a certain way.  They were not a 9 

horse that I was worried about. 10 

  You know, so it’s -- you know, we -- and I look 11 

at these cases when they happen.  You know, I look at 12 

everything about them and I go back through their 13 

healthcare (indiscernible) and through their intra-14 

articulars and, you know, and everything.  15 

  And we actually do at Los Alamitos.  The 16 

stewards, when we take entries, they go through the program 17 

and the entries and they always do give me -- I know we 18 

have the CHRB panel for, you know, Del Mar, Santa Anita in 19 

the daytime, which I participated on for the December meet 20 

for the daytime.  I look through the program.  We are 21 

aware, when I look at these horses, too, in the morning, my 22 

assistant is really great of she always looks back at the 23 

several races, previous races, looking for layoffs. 24 

  The stewards compile a list of horses for me that 25 
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I review in the morning where they have -- you know, we 1 

have horses that are running, say, dropping off a win or 2 

just a drop in general or layoff horses or, you know, 3 

second off the layoffs.  They make a list of horses for me 4 

to reference to pay extra attention to, you know, when we 5 

do our exams, so I think we’re crossing our Ts there and, 6 

you know, doing the best we can as far as that’s concerned. 7 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Do you think you’re -- the 8 

possible safety of horses and jockeys could be improved if 9 

you had additional personnel to inspect horses or to watch 10 

horses train in the morning?  Do you think you could 11 

improve your situation if you had more personnel or not? 12 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  I will honestly say that I feel 13 

like I am at an advantage that I look at all the horses 14 

each time they race.  I know these horses like the back of 15 

my hand.  And I saw them the last time they race and I will 16 

see them the next time they race.  And for me, I’m lucky 17 

that that -- I fell into this job because that’s something 18 

that sits well with me.  I remember horses.  I remember how 19 

they job.  I remember how they go.  It’s something that 20 

works for me. 21 

  But I feel like it is an advantage for me.  And I 22 

feel like, you know, when you switch it up and you have two 23 

or three examining vets, and then I haven’t seen this horse 24 

for the last two races and now I see it today, that I’m 25 
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kind of coming in cold.  And I feel like it’s actually an 1 

advantage that I see the horses.  And I think that’s how we 2 

did so well last year. 3 

  I actually, I get -- I mean, everybody knows some 4 

of the comments that we get from trainers, you know, “He’s 5 

always been like that,” and I can tell them, “He’s not 6 

always been like that because he’s raced her 16 times and 7 

I’ve looked at him every single time he races.” 8 

  I also work all the horses off the vet’s list.  9 

So I -- when the horses are voided claimed or they are 10 

lame, you know, I get to watch the horses work.  I look at 11 

them after.  I think it’s an advantage.  If we were running 12 

100 head of horses, then, no.  But, you know, we typically 13 

run 50, 60 horses, and it’s totally doable.  14 

  I don’t get -- I know it’s been alluded to 15 

before, you know, well, maybe at the end of your morning 16 

you get more lax.  And, honestly, I think I go the 17 

opposite.  I think if you’re on the end of my exams, I’m 18 

more likely to just nix them.  So I scratch plenty of 19 

horses at the end of the day. 20 

  Our horse that broke down on Sunday night in the 21 

championship race, he was the second horse that I looked at 22 

in the morning.  He was in the holding barn and jogged in 23 

front of all of the daytime thoroughbred ship-in guys. I 24 

mean, there was an audience that watched that horse jog and 25 
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get checked and there was nothing suspicious about that 1 

horse. 2 

  So I don’t believe -- personally, it works for 3 

me, you know, but that’s just my personal opinion. 4 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  And then this is a loaded 5 

question but do you feel you get sufficient backup from 6 

management when you scratch a horse and it’s objected to by 7 

the trainer? 8 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  I do.  I absolutely do.  I’ve 9 

never felt -- I mean, the Racing Office will tell me, even 10 

without me asking for it, the Racing Office will tell me, 11 

“We always have your back.”  They’ll tell me so and so 12 

called and complained and threw a tantrum and whatnot.  But 13 

they always tell me that they have my back, so I don’t -- 14 

and, I mean, I’m pretty tough skinned, so it wouldn’t 15 

matter to me if they didn’t.  I just have such strong 16 

ethics that the right thing is the right thing.  And 17 

whether it’s the easy thing or not, that’s what I do, so -- 18 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Very good.  Very good. 19 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  Yeah.  Doctor -- 20 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Any questions -- 21 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  -- Dr. 22 

Fitzgerald -- 23 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- from the Board -- 24 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  -- is not 25 
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particularly -- 1 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- of Dr. Fitzgerald? 2 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  -- popular  3 

with -- Dr. Fitzgerald is not particularly popular with a 4 

lot of trainers, so that’s a good sign for an examining 5 

veterinarian. 6 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  I’m not popular. 7 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Any -- any questions -- 8 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  I’m okay with that. 9 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- for Dr. Fitzgerald from the 10 

Board?  11 

  Thank you, Doctor. 12 

  I don’t know, do we have questions or further 13 

discussion by the Board? 14 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  I do.  This is Commissioner 15 

Gonzales. 16 

  Thank you for that presentation, Dr. Fitzgerald. 17 

We all realized during COVID, many racetracks across the 18 

country were shut down.  And Los Alamitos, because of their 19 

resources and commitment to the safety of personnel, had 20 

been -- has been allowed to race when other California 21 

tracks were shut down. 22 

  I’m very interested to know, and this builds off 23 

of Commissioner Solis’s question about horses and 24 

connections, that is owners and trainers, that may be 25 
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coming from outside.  I do appreciate Dr. Fitzgerald saying 1 

that she knows the population like the back of her hand.  2 

But I’m just wanting to know if we experienced an influx of 3 

horses coming from outside of California that may have had 4 

no other options in the states that were impacted by COVID 5 

and racing authorities closing down those racetracks? 6 

  DR. FITZGERALD:  I can say that I don’t know of 7 

any of our recent fatalities that have been horses that 8 

were new on the grounds.  We did have a horse vanned off 9 

that was shipped in from San Luis Rey Downs that would not 10 

have normally run at night that was running in an 870 11 

allowance race. 12 

  But as far as fatalities, I think most all of 13 

these -- all that I can think of right now were horses that 14 

were here on the grounds already racing consistently at Los 15 

Alamitos.  They weren’t ship-in horses from Arizona or 16 

somewhere like that. 17 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Any other questions from the 18 

Board? 19 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  Dr. Ferraro, this is 20 

Scott Chaney.  Could I be heard? 21 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes.  Yes. 22 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  Just wanted to provide 23 

a few more facts to the Board.  I really don’t -- I don’t 24 

feel like I’m -- my role is to sort of take a side here.  I 25 
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think my role is to make sure the Board has all the facts 1 

to make a proper decision.  I just kind of wanted to clear 2 

things up in terms of fatalities in the last two fiscal 3 

years.  There’s been some -- well, we’re sort of dancing 4 

around it. 5 

  I mean, just to be clear, in 2018-19, Fiscal Year 6 

2018-19, there were 33 training and racing-related 7 

fatalities at Los Alamitos.  This past fiscal year there 8 

were 32.  So while there was a decrease, it was one. 9 

  The number that is concerning and that Mr. Couto 10 

keeps bringing up was the other category which went from 9 11 

to 21, so total fatalities went from 42 to 53 in the last 12 

two fiscal years. 13 

  I think we all share the other concern.  And it’s 14 

odd and interesting, I’m not sure that it’s emergent and 15 

really alone would cause me to even write a petition, the 16 

meat of the petition that I filed was one number in 17 

particular, and that is racing fatalities going from a 5 to 18 

14 during the last six months as compared to 19 

(indiscernible).  That has to be concerning that it’s 20 

almost tripled as compared to the same period last year. 21 

  One thing I will say is I worked at Los Alamitos 22 

before starting this job, like four months ago.  And Dr. 23 

Fitzgerald is one of the best in the business.  She is 24 

excellent at her job and I’m super comfortable with her at 25 
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the helm there.  You know, whether she needs more help or 1 

there’s some other -- a better way to do it, you know, is a 2 

separate discussion. 3 

  What I will say, and I think Dr. Arthur alluded 4 

to, was she does it in very difficult conditions.  She is 5 

not -- in saying she’s not popular among horsemen is a bit 6 

of an understatement.  I know they complain regularly to 7 

management about her just because she’s so tough.  And if 8 

nothing else, I want to be clear that the CHRB fully 9 

supports her endeavors in the job she’s doing over there. 10 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 11 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 12 

  Any questions for Mr. Chaney from the Board?  Any 13 

further comments before we take public comment?  14 

  Okay, Operator, let’s begin our public comment 15 

period. 16 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you.  And at this time, we’ll 17 

open it up for public comment.  If you have a question or 18 

comment, please press star, followed by a one on your 19 

telephone key pad.  Once your line is open you’ll have two 20 

minutes for comments.  You’ll hear a bell at 90 seconds 21 

reminding you of your time.  Again, please press star one 22 

if you have a question or comment. 23 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Please remember to stay on topic 24 

and that you have two minutes only. 25 
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  OPERATOR:  And we will first go to Bob Baffert. 1 

  Please go ahead, sir. 2 

  MR. BAFFERT:  Yes.  This is Bob Baffert.  And can 3 

you hear me fine? 4 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes.  Go ahead, Bob. 5 

  MR. BAFFERT:  Okay.  Yes.  I just wanted to let 6 

people -- everybody know that, you know, I started racing 7 

at Los Alamitos.  And I’ve kept a big string of 8 

thoroughbreds there.  And I usually keep about 70 to 80 9 

horses there all year long.  And all my Triple Crown 10 

champions all started there.  All my champions for the last 11 

ten years have -- seven years have been at Los Alamitos and 12 

I’ve never had any issues with them at all.  And this year 13 

I haven’t had any issues. 14 

  So I just want to let the Board know that that 15 

track surface is probably the kindest of all the surfaces 16 

in Southern California, so I can’t seeing it being the 17 

track surface, and I just wanted to make that a point.  18 

I’ve never been afraid to run a horse.  I ran a horse a 19 

week ago that we paid $3.6 million for.  Never hesitated to 20 

run him on that surface.  Horse ran and came back well. 21 

  So as a track surface, I consider that the best 22 

surface.  And that’s why Dennis Moore has become so popular 23 

in racing because Los Alamitos is sort of the standard of 24 

all the track surfaces.   25 
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  And so I just want to let people know that that 1 

is the safest racing surface that I’ve trained on. 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you very much. 3 

  Next please. 4 

  OPERATOR:  We will next go to Greg Avioli. 5 

  Please go ahead, sir. 6 

  MR. AVIOLI:  Greg Avioli from Thorough Owners of 7 

California. 8 

  I just want to echo Bob Baffert’s comments on the 9 

safety that we’ve experienced on the thoroughbred side of 10 

morning workouts.  As most of you know, Los Al is an 11 

auxiliary stabling for all of Southern California racing 12 

for all year long, except for when they’re running their 13 

weeks of live racing. 14 

  We have many owners and many members of the TOC 15 

board who believe it is an excellent surface.  We’ve had a 16 

very limited number of injuries in the morning.  And our 17 

experience is that it’s an excellent surface to train 18 

horses on in the morning.  The afternoon, also, has had 19 

very limited fatalities in thoroughbred racing. 20 

  So the TOC would support continuation of racing 21 

and training at Los Al. 22 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 23 

  Next please.  24 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you, sir. 25 
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  We’ll now go to Bonnie Crocker. 1 

  Please go ahead. 2 

  MS. CROCKER:  Yes.  Good morning.  Can you hear 3 

me all right? 4 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes. 5 

  MS. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I’d like to thank the 6 

CHRB for conducting this emergency teleconference.  The 7 

Board has worked diligently for more than a year to put 8 

into a place an immense body of regulatory procedures and 9 

protocols.  Your Rule 1435, which gives the CHRB the 10 

authority to suspend a horse racing license, represents the 11 

apex of your jurisdiction and all of your hard work as 12 

well. 13 

  The decision you are preparing to make today will 14 

publicly summarize and characterize your ability to carry 15 

out your mission which is to protect the health and safety 16 

of both horses and humans.  17 

  Los Alamitos has experienced 29 horses fatalities 18 

so far in 2020.  When Santa Anita had experienced just 23, 19 

Senator Feinstein asked them to stop racing.  20 

  It is my opinion that Los Alamitos also has 21 

exhibited gross negligence by allowing jockeys to whip 22 

horses in excess of 20 consecutive times during a race, as 23 

evidenced via livestream television. 24 

  Regarding human safety, Santa Anita announced 17 25 
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positive COVID-19 at their facility following the 1 

conclusion of their racing meet.  Santa Anita and Los Al 2 

employ some of the same workers, hence there is great 3 

opportunity for the massive spread of COVID-19. 4 

  In summary, I asked the CHRB to suspend the horse 5 

racing license of Los Alamitos.  The power to suspend is 6 

yours, CHRB.  Don’t let anyone talk you out of using it. 7 

  Thank you. 8 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 9 

  Next please. 10 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 11 

  Next we’ll go to Heather Wilson. 12 

  Please go ahead. 13 

  MS. WILSON:  Can you hear me? 14 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes, we can. 15 

  MS. WILSON:  Oh.  Okay.  Thank you so much for 16 

having this emergency hearing. 17 

  If the current license is not suspended, then 18 

that means the following numbers are acceptable.  And these 19 

data were collected from the CHRB website with the 20 

exception of Tap the Wire, a Los Alamitos casualty that has 21 

still failed to be recognized by the CHRB. 22 

  From January 1st through July 9th, 2020, for Los 23 

Alamitos nighttime racing, which is the license we are 24 

talking about, the numbers for the horses are as follows: 25 
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103 unsound; 21 sick; 8 bleeding; 41 injured; and 29 dead.  1 

  The health and welfare of the humans at the track 2 

are also at risk.  COVID-19 cases are surging in 3 

California.  As we know, Los Alamitos was the only track in 4 

California that did not suspend live racing.  Live horse 5 

racing violates basic CDC guidelines, large crowds and no 6 

social distancing evident at every single post parade, 7 

followed by the loading of the horses.  The pony horses and 8 

the racehorses are tethered tightly together.  And then the 9 

people are climbing on top of each other to the starting 10 

gate. 11 

  Santa Anita deceived the public, only releasing 12 

the confirmation of 17 positive COVID-19 after the meet was 13 

over.  And these are cases that occurred throughout the 14 

duration of the meet.  Horses and humans were going back 15 

and forth, racing at both Santa Anita and Los Alamitos, the 16 

entire time.  How dare Aiden Butler call Santa Anita, and I 17 

quote, “A self-contained ecosystem.”  It was more likely 18 

top-tier Petri dish. 19 

  It is incumbent upon the CHRB to use their 20 

authority per Rule 1435 and suspend the current racing 21 

license at Los Alamitos for the safety, the welfare, the 22 

very lives of the horses and the humans. 23 

  Thank you. 24 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 25 
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  Next please. 1 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 2 

  Next we’ll go to Denise Bolbol. 3 

  Please go ahead. 4 

  MS. BOLBOL:  Yes.  Hello.  This is a no-brainer. 5 

Of course Los Alamitos should be closed.  The vet just 6 

said, quote, “We are doing the best we can.”  If this is 7 

their best, they need to be shut down. 8 

  But I’ll be very shocked if this Board takes any 9 

meaningful action because you are all just industry, 10 

rubberstamp, whitewashed Board.  You do not represent the 11 

citizens of California.  You are not living up to the 12 

obligations to the governor which has placed trust in you 13 

to take swift action to protect the lives of these horses. 14 

And you fail to do it every single time. 15 

  Dr. Arthur just proved he also is an industry 16 

hack who excuses these deaths, saying education or 17 

regulations are the answer.  Clearly, that’s not the truth. 18 

  Also, Los Alamitos is hiding behind, oh, 19 

musculoskeletal, respiratory, colic, sudden death, unknown 20 

deaths.  These are all deaths that are caused by racing and 21 

training.  These are -- horses in the wild do not have 22 

these problems.  These are not naturally occurring causes 23 

of death.  These are activities -- these are deaths caused 24 

by activities related specifically to the racing industry. 25 
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  The vet from Los Alamitos also said all these 1 

horses looked healthy and then they died.  Well, what does 2 

that tell you people?  This is not brain surgery. 3 

  And, also, what are you -- what is your criteria 4 

for shutting done?  Is it clusters of death?  Because then 5 

you better shut down Santa Anita.  I mean, we’re talking 6 

dozens of deaths. 7 

  Why did I get caught off? 8 

  OPERATOR:  You’ve got 30 seconds. 9 

  MS. BOLBOL:  Did I get -- 10 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  You’ve got 30 seconds. 11 

  MS. BOLBOL:  -- cut off here?  Oh, thank you.  12 

Okay. 13 

  So what is the criteria?  Is it seven deaths in 14 

four weeks?  Because since your last meeting, that’s how 15 

many deaths have occurred.  Why wasn’t this Los Alamitos 16 

closed back in your June meeting?  We have -- Golden Gate 17 

has 31 deaths.  Santa Ana -- Santa Anita has 43 deaths.  I 18 

mean, come on, you guys are doing nothing and you’re 19 

sitting there, letting these horses die, and coming up with 20 

excuses.  21 

  Dr. Arthur, really?  You should be ashamed of 22 

yourself, you really should, saying that education and 23 

regulations are the answers.  Come on.  24 

  I’ll be shocked if you guys do anything.  Are you 25 
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going to shock me?  We’ll see. 1 

  Thank you. 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 3 

  Next please. 4 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you.  5 

  Next we’ll go to Heather Hyde. 6 

  Please go ahead. 7 

  MS. HYDE:  Hello.  This is Heather Hyde.  It’s my 8 

birthday today.  It’s my gift to myself and to the animals 9 

to speak up on behalf of these poor animals that are reined 10 

under the control and in the death that is, unexplainable 11 

at times, in your hands at these racetracks. They include 12 

Del Mar, Golden Gate, Santa Anita, and the topic of the day 13 

is today at Los Alamitos. 14 

  I want to thank those of you on the Board today 15 

for addressing the matter of these animals in this 16 

emergency meeting. 17 

  Clusters?  What are you talking about?  These are 18 

deaths and murder-ups and coverups of these poor horses 19 

that literally give their lives for your desire of money 20 

and a racing winning title.  Injuries due to racing and 21 

training, clusters of deaths, fatalities, sudden death, 22 

gastric, heart attack, colic, musculoskeletal, deaths noted 23 

as other, do you not get it?  Any deaths here on the track, 24 

they’re excessive.  It’s not normal.  It’s not natural. 25 
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  Alex Solis, you are one of the most disgusting 1 

with your excuses and lack of comprehension -- and lack of 2 

comprehension, that you have been part of this for many 3 

years, being one of those jockeys with a big head and not 4 

saying what you have done to these animals.  Horses 5 

breaking down, the claiming rate of these horses, it’s not 6 

healthy.  This is what you’re doing to them.  You’re 7 

drugging them.  You’re running them to death, being 8 

overused and whipped.  Every time I hear your squeaky 9 

Mickey Mouse voice of excuses, Alex Solis, it’s like 10 

hearing screeching on the chalkboard at every meeting every 11 

time.  Defending what is done to these animals, you make me 12 

sick.  You represent the murdered horses.  You represent 13 

the whips.  You represent the drugs.  You, indeed, have 14 

also whipped these poor animals.  You are a murderer.  How 15 

dare you be on this Board. 16 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Excuse me.  Excuse me. 17 

  MS. HYDE:  Oscar Gonzales -- 18 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  You know -- 19 

  MS. HYDE:  Yes? 20 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- your ability to make a public 21 

comment does not allow you to slander anybody.  I’m going 22 

to cut you off right here. 23 

  Next please. 24 

  MS. HYDE:  That’s fine. 25 
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  OPERATOR:  Next we’ll go to Michelle Walter. 1 

  Please go ahead. 2 

  MS. WALTER:  How do -- can you hear me? 3 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes. 4 

  OPERATOR:  Yes. 5 

  MS. WALTER:  Okay.  So I, you know, work full-6 

time and I haven’t been able to follow the horse racing in 7 

California.  However, I’m much informed by Martha Sullivan 8 

and Ellen Erickson and Heather.  And I think the CHRB has 9 

no transparency at the Los Alamitos.  I think there are 10 

more horses that are dying and there’s more COVID deaths.  11 

  And I’m really upset that the CHRB is having this 12 

emergency meeting to pretend that they care about the 13 

horses and the people when really it’s all about money. 14 

  So I am so ashamed of the CHRB.  I think this  15 

was -- Los Alamitos never stopped racing.  They still ran 16 

their horses.  And I have called Governor Newsom and I’m 17 

going to call him as soon as I get off the phone.  You are 18 

not taking care of the horses.  You are not caring about 19 

the people that have COVID. 20 

  And I listened to the whole meeting and Dr. 21 

Fitzgerald mentioned there was only 12 deaths.  There’s a 22 

lot more in 2019.  She is not giving the correct 23 

information.  And she even stated in her comment that she 24 

is distracted at times.  So in her distraction she is not 25 
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following the protocol. 1 

  And I don’t think an extra person to help her 2 

check on the horses is going to do any good because you’re 3 

running these horses when they’re too young.  They’re 4 

skeletal system is too underdeveloped.  You’re whipping 5 

them.  There’s no transparency in the drugs.  And I know 6 

that some of the horses have been overdosed with Lasix. 7 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  You’re getting off topic, ma’am. 8 

The issue is Los Alamitos, not drugs. 9 

  MS. WALTER:  Okay.  Okay.  10 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  (Indiscernible.) 11 

  MS. WALTER:  Yes.  Okay.  I am highly supportive 12 

of suspension of the deadly horses that are dying at Los 13 

Alamitos.  I need a suspension until there is more evidence 14 

to prove that the -- and this has nothing to do with the 15 

racetrack.  Oh, yeah, everybody talks about the racetrack 16 

and how the surface is so perfect for racing horses.  Then 17 

why are the horses dying?  If it’s not the racetrack, it 18 

has to be the horses and the development of their skeletal 19 

system.  I want and demand a suspension at Los Alamitos 20 

now. 21 

  And during the COVID-19, how many people will 22 

they have?  They didn’t even expose the COVID-19 until 23 

after the racetrack -- this is all about money.  And CHRB 24 

is -- you’re a facade.  You’re a facade.  You’re pretending 25 
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that you care about the people and the horses. You don’t so 1 

don’t B.S. me.  This is all about money. 2 

  Thank you.  3 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 4 

  Next please. 5 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 6 

  Next we’ll go to Terry Bingham.  7 

  Please go ahead. 8 

  MS. BINGHAM:  Hi.  Terry Bingham, trainer/owner. 9 

  You know, I agree with the TOC, Mr. Baffert, and 10 

Dr. Arthur, who comes from Davis which is the best equine 11 

vet school in the country, if not the world. 12 

  At the last seven-day meet at Los Alamitos there 13 

were no fatalities.  There also were no serious injuries. 14 

The issue is trainers using corticosteroid injections.  The 15 

issue is not the track. 16 

  My family and I trained in California and ran at 17 

Los Alamitos for more than 40 years.  In my family’s 18 

experience, Los Alamitos has been the safest track in 19 

California, period.  Los Alamitos is owned by a long-term 20 

horseman who is a lawyer and a doctor.  Dr. Allred spent 21 

more than $1 million of his own money improving the track 22 

and building new barns. 23 

  If you want to protect horses, fine the trainers 24 

with casualties, those who encourage questionable vet 25 
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practices, not the track.  Don’t impose conditions on our 1 

state’s safest track.  There’s a far greater risk of injury 2 

at Santa Anita because the tiles at the track are bad and 3 

hurt the horses bones.  The track at Los Alamitos is much 4 

safer for horse tendons and bones.  And Los Alamitos runs 5 

100 more races because they run year round.  The surface at 6 

Los Alamitos is far superior to any track in the state. 7 

  Also, Los Alamitos keeps jockeys and workers 8 

COVID-free compared to worker positives at other tracks. 9 

  Please allow this meet.  Thank you. 10 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you very much. 11 

  Next please. 12 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 13 

  We’ll next go to Kiersten Cluster. 14 

  Please go ahead. 15 

  MS. CLUSTER:  Good morning.  Can you hear me? 16 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead please.  Yes.  17 

  MS. CLUSTER:  Good morning. 18 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead. 19 

  MS. CLUSTER:  Thank you.  Good morning.  My name 20 

is Kiersten Cluster.  I’m with Elephant Guardians of Los 21 

Angeles. 22 

  And, first, I would just like to say that 23 

everything I have heard this morning from the spokespeople 24 

from Los Alamitos serves to confirm that horse racing is an 25 
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inherently dangerous activity for horses and jockeys, an 1 

activity that cannot be fixed with reform. 2 

  Second, horse racing is a non-essential activity 3 

that is being carried on during a public health crisis.  4 

The reluctance to suspend horse racing at Los Alamitos or 5 

any track during a global pandemic is putting human lives 6 

at risk, on top of the suffering and deaths caused to the 7 

horses, which is clearly considered part of business as 8 

usual. 9 

  We need to honor and respect the horses, the 10 

jockeys, the backstretch workers, everyone who may be 11 

impacted by the unsafe conditions at Los Alamitos during 12 

this public health crisis and going forward.  We urge you, 13 

for the health and safety of all concerned, to please 14 

suspend the racing license at Los Alamitos per CHRB Rule 15 

1435. 16 

  Thank you. 17 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 18 

  Next please. 19 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 20 

  Next we’ll go to Patricia Krayaski. 21 

  Please go ahead. 22 

  MS. KRAYASKI:  Can you hear me? 23 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead please.  Yes, we can. 24 

  MS. KRAYASKI:  Can you hear me?  Okay. 25 
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  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes, we can. 1 

  MS. KRAYASKI:  I resign -- okay.  I’m a 2 

California resident, long-concerned about the horse racing 3 

industry in general.  Basically, what I’ve heard on this 4 

teleconference call is thinks such as trends, as things 5 

vary per calendar year based on fatality numbers not being 6 

a single measure of a horse’s life at this particular 7 

facility, that there was no support of racetrack surface 8 

issues.  So that, to me, indicates several things.  9 

  Probably the biggest one that is out of the 10 

equation is the welfare of the horse itself by this racing 11 

panel.  And I know several of you have monetary interests 12 

in keeping this industry that creates so much suffering for 13 

these animals.  They are often -- when you look at the age 14 

of these ones that just died over the 4th of July weekend, 15 

I understand that they were in the age bracket of three 16 

years old.  From horse owners that I personally know, and 17 

horse trainers, that is far too young to start them racing 18 

in general.  Their musculoskeletal structures are not 19 

developed properly.  So when you spoke about a lot of them 20 

having GI issues, that’s no uncommon in horses that are 21 

forced to race.  That’s not a voluntary participation on 22 

their part, many, many skeletal injuries, joint injuries. 23 

  Education really is not the answer.  There’s 24 

already, what, I think the number given, 29 or 30, 32eaths 25 
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so far this year at this particular racetrack.  How many 1 

deaths are within, quote unquote, “normal range?”  Well, if 2 

I were to be able to speak to a horse, I think one would be 3 

too many. 4 

  So the guise of this multi-billion dollar 5 

industry across this nation is abhorrent.  And often these 6 

horses are run into the ground and are allowed to have drug 7 

abuse issues.  We do not have enough information to sit 8 

there and understand the nature of what’s going on here. 9 

  And I am asking, I am imploring the Board, even 10 

any one of you that has financial input in this industry, 11 

monetary industry interests here, is to use this rule to 12 

suspend these operations until further notice. 13 

  And I agree with the people.  While we are in a 14 

statewide pandemic, why on earth are we allowing racetracks 15 

to be open during COVID-19? 16 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 17 

  Next please. 18 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 19 

  Next is Sara Segal.  Please go ahead. 20 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead please. 21 

  MS. SEGAL:  Hello.  Can you hear me? 22 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes.  Go ahead. 23 

  MS. SEGAL:  Two more horses died to the Los 24 

Alamitos Race Course over the 4th of July holiday weekend, 25 
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both just three years old.  Another three-year-old horse 1 

was taken out of the race, failing to finish.  She was 2 

taken away but the nature of her injury has not been 3 

released, nor has -- nor do we even know she’s still alive. 4 

At least 21 horses now have died at the track since the 5 

season started on December 27th.  This includes racing and 6 

training deaths.  And at least nine other racehorses from 7 

what California Horse Racing Board officials list as other 8 

causes of death. 9 

  And I just wanted to say that the reason why a 10 

lot of these horses are dying is because horses do not 11 

carry their babies on their backs and they never do and 12 

they never will.  And, therefore, it’s not natural for 13 

horses to carry anybody on their back.  And that’s why 14 

they’re dying, because when a horse is only 18 months old 15 

and you’re racing a horse or your training a horse that’s 16 

not a willing participant, because you guys call this a 17 

sport but horse racing is not a sport because there’s no 18 

willing participants that are equally engaged, there’s just 19 

the human -- 20 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Ma’am, you need to confine -- 21 

  MS. SEGAL:  -- (indiscernible). 22 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- your comments.  You need to 23 

confine your comments to racing at Los Alamitos please. 24 

  MS. SEGAL:  And at Los Alamitos -- 25 
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  CHAIR FERRARO:  You’re repeating old arguments. 1 

  MS. SEGAL:  -- at Los Alamitos, horses continue 2 

to die and they will continue to die until the California 3 

Horse Racing Board votes on Rule 1435 to suspend the racing 4 

at Los Alamitos.  I’ve been to Los Alamitos many times and 5 

I definitely know that the horses do not want to be there. 6 

I definitely know at Los Alamitos that they use whips.  7 

They try to call them crops but they’re whips.  And I’m not 8 

sure why we’re even trying to discuss how we’re going to 9 

keep Los Alamitos open because even one horse is too many 10 

dead. 11 

  And Dr. Fitzgerald was saying earlier how there 12 

was only ten horses this one time that died and she acted 13 

so trite about it, I mean, just like so casual, like, oh, 14 

only ten horses died this time.  It’s like, are you kidding 15 

me?  If this place was a Disneyland and one kid died you’d 16 

shut it down.  So I don’t understand why you’re taking 17 

innocent horses at Los Alamitos, you’re forcing them to 18 

race at Los Alamitos, and you’re using whips on them which, 19 

obviously, that’s cruel and that’s animal abuse.  So you’re 20 

having a meeting of whether or not you’re going to shut 21 

down animal abuse at Los Alamitos. 22 

  And I’m asking you today to please shut down Los 23 

Alamitos and never open it up back again because the horses 24 

at Los Alamitos, if you love them so much, you can go ahead 25 
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and rehabilitate them. 1 

  And, you know, Alex Solis, so he loves horses so 2 

much but likes to beat them, why don’t you train people on  3 

how to love horses, but that might not be easy for you 4 

since you don’t love horses.  Because no one that loves 5 

horses would ever get on a horse and use a whip and beat a 6 

horse into submission and break their spirit -- 7 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you very much. 8 

  MS. SEGAL:  -- and make them run -- 9 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Next please, Operator. 10 

  MS. SEGAL:  -- at Los Alamitos -- 11 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 12 

  And next we’ll go to Troy Tabak. 13 

  Please go ahead. 14 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead please. 15 

  MR. TABAK:  Hi.  Troy Tabak, President of PMEG 16 

Local 280.  Good morning, Commissioners. 17 

  Local 280 supports the health and welfare of all 18 

horses.  And we believe that the CHRB will always make 19 

decisions to better the horse racing industry. 20 

  On behalf of Local 280 labor, we support the 21 

continued live racing at Los Alamitos.  The labor industry 22 

needs the live racing to proceed with no delays.  Labor on 23 

both the front and backside rely on this live racing to 24 

support our livelihoods.  We are people, too, that need the 25 
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industry. 1 

  Thank you for your time. 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 3 

  Next please. 4 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 5 

  Next we’ll go to Andrew Lesser. 6 

  Please go ahead, sir. 7 

  MS. LESSER:  Yes.  Can you hear me okay? 8 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead please. 9 

  MS. LESSER:  Yeah.  Yeah.  Hi. 10 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes, we can. 11 

  MS. LESSER:  Yeah.  I’m an E.R. physician.  And 12 

my family owned harness horses back in the 1950s and 1960s. 13 

And I’ve spoken before the Board before which, you know, I 14 

hope I’m not whistling in the wind, talking to the Board 15 

members. 16 

  But I would just like to know if any of you have 17 

a conscience as to what’s going on?  I’ve listened to the 18 

testimony about Los Alamitos, and from veterinarians, from 19 

union labor leader, from trainers, and all I hear is an 20 

indictment of an industry that is defending itself with 21 

rationalizations.  One trainer even said that Los Alamitos 22 

is the safest track in California and it still has deaths 23 

and even indicted the track at Santa Anita.  But we all 24 

know it’s not the track, it’s not the surface, it’s the 25 
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money, and that’s it. 1 

  So I’d like any of you to develop a conscience 2 

and close this track. 3 

  Thank you very much. 4 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 5 

  How much more time do we have, Michael? 6 

  MR. MARTEN:  Ten minutes. 7 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Okay.  Next please. 8 

  OPERATOR:  Next we’ll go to Martin Valenzuela. 9 

  Please go ahead.  10 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead please. 11 

  MR. VALENZUELA:  Hello.  Yes.  Well, I’d like to 12 

go back and I want to give a lot of credit to Dr. 13 

Fitzgerald and Dr. Allred.  This place has been a safe 14 

haven and a safe track for all the years.  I’ve been 15 

training over 30 years and it has, basically, for me, has 16 

set the standard for every other racetrack that they should 17 

follow. 18 

  And this is my personal opinion that sometimes 19 

some of these meetings that come up without having full-on 20 

facts kind of convey to these other people this extremist 21 

call-ins and expression of false narrative without knowing 22 

full facts and making up a bunch of stories as if it’s 23 

true.  I think that’s first there. 24 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Okay.  Thank you. 25 
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  Next please. 1 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 2 

  Next we’ll go to Ellen Eriksen. 3 

  Please go ahead. 4 

  MS. ERIKSEN:  Good morning, Board Members.  Can 5 

you hear me okay? 6 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes. 7 

  MS. ERIKSEN:  First thing I want to say is to Dr. 8 

Fitzgerald, how arrogant you are in your blatant behavior 9 

and personality, saying that you don’t need any help.  And, 10 

clearly, you do need help. 11 

  What I want to say is that it’s very interesting 12 

that today is the opening day at Del Mar that your special 13 

meeting is being held.  It seems like things have been 14 

escalating at racetracks in California since the beginning 15 

of the year with injuries and deaths. 16 

  So how many horses need to die before the 17 

California Horse Racing Board Rule 1435 is put into effect? 18 

 Is 29 horses the magic number for this Racing Board to 19 

finally take action in shutting down Los Alamitos and 20 

taking their license away? 21 

  This reckless behavior from the California Horse 22 

Racing Board in allowing this racetrack to continue to race 23 

horses is criminal.  Who is monitoring the California Horse 24 

Racing Board?  If it weren’t for the activists, who have 25 
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monitored the dead horses, nothing would be happening 1 

today. 2 

  Clearly, the owners and trainers get away with 3 

murder while the Board seems to always look the other way.  4 

  You will finally make a decision, hopefully 5 

today, on behalf of the horses that have died and, 6 

hopefully, for the horses that haven’t died yet here at Del 7 

Mar starting its season today. 8 

  I’m out at the racetrack right now waiting for 9 

the meet to start, which is totally irresponsible due to 10 

the large outbreak of COVID in our community in San Diego, 11 

jeopardizing the health and well-being of the citizens in 12 

this county. 13 

  EQUINE MEDICAL DIRECTOR ARTHUR:  Off topic. 14 

  MS. ERIKSEN:  -- with -- 15 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  You’re getting off topic now.  16 

Let’s confine it to Los Alamitos’s license to operate. 17 

  MS. ERIKSEN:  Okay.  I urge and beg the Board to 18 

pull the license at Los Alamitos.  One death is 19 

unacceptable.  Twenty-nine deaths in seven months is 20 

criminal. 21 

  Thank you. 22 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 23 

  Next please. 24 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 25 
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  Next we’ll go to Wendy Marcus. 1 

  Please go ahead. 2 

  MS. MARCUS:  Hi.  Can you hear me? 3 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes, we can.  Go ahead. 4 

  MS. MARCUS:  Oh, okay.  It has already been 5 

mentioned that Los Alamitos has had 29 horse fatalities 6 

since January 1st, 2020, and an untold number of six 7 

bleeding and unsound horses, which is also related to the 8 

racing. 9 

  I have listened to all of the Board Member and 10 

veterinarian comments and I’m so disheartened and disgusted 11 

by all the references to fiscal year.  This clearly 12 

demonstrates that these horses are just a commodity and 13 

their welfare is not important in the scheme of this big 14 

multi-billion dollar business. 15 

  As if the high number of deaths wasn’t enough to 16 

suspend horse racing, coronavirus is raging throughout 17 

California.  And Orange County is a particular hotspot, 18 

with selfish residents spouting their rights to not wear 19 

masks with no regard to their fellow neighbors.  And yet, 20 

Orange County never stopped racing when all the other 21 

California tracks did. 22 

  In fact, Orange County Chief Health Officer Dr. 23 

Nichole Quick was compelled to resign due to the mass 24 

controversy and death threats that she has received.  I am 25 
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shocked and saddened by this type of unconscionable 1 

behavior. 2 

  The industry is desperately trying to sweep 3 

COVID-19 under the rug.  I have always opposed horse racing 4 

due to the apparent danger and cruelty to horses.  But now 5 

with COVID-19 running rampant with no containment in sight, 6 

it is imperative to stop horse racing at Los Alamitos.  7 

This is for the benefit of the horses and, equally, the 8 

large number of workers who are subject to dirty working 9 

and living conditions which are a perfect breeding ground 10 

for a virus.  11 

  In closing, I would like to emphasize again that 12 

between the large number of dead and injured horses and the 13 

deadly, highly contagious pandemic, the racing license of 14 

Los Alamitos must be suspended per CHRB Rule 1435. 15 

  Thank you. 16 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 17 

  Next please. 18 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you. 19 

  Next we’ll go to Patty Shenker. 20 

  Please go ahead. 21 

  MS. SHENKER:  Yes.  Good morning. 22 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead please. 23 

  MS. SHENKER:  I’m here today -- I’m here 24 

(indiscernible). 25 
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  CHAIR FERRARO:  You’re cutting out.  We can’t 1 

hear you. 2 

  MS. SHENKER:  Hold on one second.  Please stop, 3 

at least, my time.  Okay.  Can you hear me now? 4 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes.  Go ahead. 5 

  MS. SHENKER:  Can you hear me?  Okay.  6 

  In May 2019, we had a similar meeting because 7 

there had already been 25 horses killed at Santa Anita Park 8 

and there was much outrage about it, to the point that 9 

Governor Newsom and the California Legislature brought SB 10 

469 which gives you authority to have a public meeting on a 11 

day’s notice regarding the suspension of a racing license. 12 

This seems like the hawks guarding the henhouse to me. 13 

  A year later, since January 2020, 29 horses have 14 

been killed at Los Alamitos.  And this year, since SB 469, 15 

we have seen no real changes.  The whippings continue.  The 16 

illegal doping, Bob Baffert again.  The lies, no horses go 17 

to slaughter.  The deceit that they’ve mandated necropsies, 18 

blaming others in the killings, except that this year, by 19 

continuing to have races and training, you have chosen to 20 

endanger people as well due to COVID-19, thereby gambling 21 

on all of our lives. 22 

  Two horses, Jess Bet Me, a five-year-old gelding, 23 

and Equilibrio, a two-year-old gelding, both took bad steps 24 

but they were still forced to hobble across the wire with 25 
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their serious injuries to ensure their owners earned some 1 

money, $3,148 for Jess Bet Me and $300 for Equilibrio, who 2 

was whipped right up until the end of his first and last 3 

race.  Both horses are dead now. 4 

  We pleaded with you at the last meeting to end 5 

the whippings because they are extremely cruel and force 6 

the horses to run even faster and often to their deaths and 7 

are frowned upon by the general public, but you refused to 8 

listen and so continue to whip horses as they break their 9 

legs and/or killed. 10 

  The only decent thing to do today is to deny Los 11 

Alamitos their license.  Please, stop killing these horses. 12 

  Thank you. 13 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you very much. 14 

  OPERATOR:  Thank you.  15 

  The next questioner -- 16 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Does that end our 30 minutes, 17 

Michael?  Mike? 18 

  MR. MARTEN:  Yes? 19 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Are we at the end of our 30 20 

minutes? 21 

  MR. MARTEN:  We have two-and-a-half minutes left 22 

and about eight people in queue. 23 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Well, we’re going to take one 24 

more comment then. 25 
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  OPERATOR:  Ms. Mento, please go ahead. 1 

  MS. MENTO:  Hello.  Good morning.  2 

  Animal Defenders International has joined our 3 

supporters and the many Californians calling for suspension 4 

of racing at Los Alamitos and for a full and transparent 5 

investigation into the alarming horse deaths and illnesses 6 

there. 7 

  Last year the governor signed SB 469 declaring 8 

the urgency thereof effective immediately.  It authorizes 9 

the Board at any time to immediately suspend a license when 10 

necessary to protect the health and safety of horses or 11 

riders which shall remain in effect until that which 12 

jeopardizes their health and safety has been adequately 13 

addressed. 14 

  This Board’s own rule also describe its authority 15 

here per Rule 1435.  Conditions demonstrating that the 16 

health and safety of horses and riders are endangered 17 

include: A, an above average number of injuries to horses 18 

and/or riders; B, a condition exists within the inclosure 19 

that is likely to endanger the health and safety of horses 20 

or riders; or C, for any other reason.  These conditions 21 

have been met. 22 

  Current conditions include, among others, a 23 

significant and above average horse death at Los Alamitos 24 

in these first six months of 2020 and a global pandemic 25 
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with increasing infections and spread throughout the state, 1 

as well as a significant COVID infection at California 2 

racetracks particularly.  Reportedly, at least 17 positive 3 

COVID-19 cases were revealed at Santa Anita, only after 4 

endangering all those who attended or worked at events, as 5 

well as those they came into contact with. 6 

  Since 2018, 50 horses died at California 7 

racetracks, illustrating longstanding industry problems 8 

attracting worldwide condemnation and prompting related 9 

state and federal legislation.  Yet when this Board called 10 

on Santa Anita to cease racing due to continued horse 11 

deaths, they defied your request. 12 

  To date, neither the disturbing horse deaths or 13 

rate of horses dying at California racetracks, nor the 14 

COVID-19 pandemic which continues to batter the state, have 15 

been adequately addressed.  Horses, riders, track workers, 16 

and the public remain at serious risk. 17 

  Board inaction is unacceptable.  It’s time to 18 

protect horses, riders, workers, and the public.  We call 19 

on the Board to suspend racing at Los Alamitos and to 20 

conduct a thorough and transparent investigation of the 21 

alarming horse deaths and illnesses there. 22 

  Thank you very much. 23 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Thank you. 24 

  That concludes our public comment period. 25 
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  Now can we have comments, questions, proposals 1 

from the Board please? 2 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Chair Ferraro, it’s Wendy 3 

Mitchell.  A couple of comments. 4 

  And, first, I’m going to give the activists 5 

advice, just as I give the industry advice, attacking 6 

people personally I don’t think is an effective strategy. 7 

Your comments towards Commissioner Solis were, I thought -- 8 

were offensive to me personally.  And I wouldn’t recommend 9 

that as a cogent advocacy plan going forward. 10 

  So having said that, I have to say, I’m 11 

disappointed a little that the Los Alamitos folks just had 12 

the attorneys speak instead of, you know, coming up with a 13 

plan for, you know, addressing these increased deaths.  I 14 

realize, you know, having been on the Board for some time 15 

now, you know, that these things are cyclical and all of 16 

that.  And there are, you know, sometimes there are 17 

different reasons and there’s no, you know, exact rhyme or 18 

reason and nothing specifically to be addressed. 19 

  However, you know, we were put on this Board, you 20 

know, with the direction of the legislature and the 21 

governor to, you know, be able to address -- to be able to 22 

address when the fatalities increased in numbers, as it 23 

states here. 24 

  So I would like for them to come up with a plan 25 
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to address the fatalities and come to more security 1 

measures that they -- and safety measures that they could 2 

come up with to address this because, obviously, it’s not 3 

acceptable that, you know, that there’s all these 4 

increases. 5 

  So if that takes some time of them not racing to 6 

come up with a plan, then I would vote for it. 7 

  Thank you.  8 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Alfieri, do you have 9 

a comment?  Did we lose him? 10 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  No.  I’m here.  Well, I 11 

would have liked to -- I agree with Commissioner Mitchell, 12 

that it would have been nice to hear, you know, what are we 13 

doing to answer to some of this?  I mean, to push it off on 14 

the gastrointestinal issues and some of that, and the 15 

other, well, then what are we doing about that?  Is it our 16 

feed provider?  Is it -- what are the issues that are 17 

causing these problems?  18 

  I hear from everybody in the industry that this 19 

is the safest track in California and I hear that loud and 20 

clear and I believe that, after hearing the experts, so 21 

it’s not that.  It’s something, obviously, it’s the other. 22 

  And so what are we doing to, you know, come up 23 

with a plan to tell us what we’re going to do about that? 24 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Agreed. 25 
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  Commissioner Castellanos? 1 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  As I mentioned 2 

earlier, if there’s further investigation that needs to be 3 

held to within what’s happening in the back, such as 4 

Commissioner Alfieri has mentioned, you know, 5 

gastrointestinal issues, stuff like that, that is not on-6 

track issues, let’s say, then we should have further 7 

investigation into that before, I believe, before any 8 

decision is made, that we should have more facts than what 9 

we’ve got sitting in front of us at an emergency meeting. 10 

  That’s my comment. 11 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Solis? 12 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  I also echo what the other 13 

Commissioners have said.  You know, I’d like to see Los 14 

Alamitos, you know, do their investigation and see what it 15 

can come up with. 16 

  I think that’s all I have to say. 17 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Gonzales? 18 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  Thank you, Dr. Ferraro, for 19 

presiding over this important hearing.  And I really 20 

appreciate the input from the public.  I’ve always said, 21 

more engagement is better. 22 

  We all have to thank Senator Dodd of the 23 

California Legislation and the Governor for bestowing these 24 

newfound authorities to the CHRB, of which we take very 25 
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seriously. 1 

  It’s pretty clear that a plan of action of some 2 

sort is needed.  The fundamental question, I believe, we 3 

have is do we allow racing while that plan is being 4 

developed or do we develop the plan while racing?  So 5 

that’s really what I think the dilemma here is. 6 

  You know, I know that people may quickly point to 7 

the caliber of horses that are competing at Los Al.  And I 8 

feel that racing can be conducted at all levels, especially 9 

at the lower claiming ranks, but we have to be a lot more 10 

vigilant because these are horses that are, obviously, less 11 

competitive but perhaps have some of these issues.  So 12 

there’s no question we have to raise the bar on ourselves. 13 

  Along those lines, I think it’s important to 14 

point out that a side-by-side comparison here in California 15 

to Los Alamitos is racing that is currently going on at 16 

Pleasanton, that is the Alameda County Fair.  We’ve already 17 

had a few weeks now of racing and have not experienced a 18 

single fatality up there.  And I think it’s a testament not 19 

only to the leadership of CARF but to the management 20 

approach that Alameda County has taken. 21 

  But we also have two racetracks in the north and 22 

the south that have been a subject of debate.  And I think 23 

that this has to be explored as well.  Some of the horses 24 

or many of the horses ran at Pleasanton, had the luxury of 25 
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training on a softer artificial course that is at Golden 1 

Gate.  But I do appreciate Dr. Fitzgerald acknowledging 2 

that the horse population that’s on the grounds of Los Al 3 

are not being -- we haven’t experienced an influx of 4 

outside.  So these are horses that are probably training 5 

not only at Los Al but also at Santa Anita, which has  6 

been -- that surface there has been the subject of 7 

discussion. 8 

  Another set of recommendations that I would like 9 

to make is for Los Al management to, while they develop 10 

their plan, is to seek input from the various associations 11 

that we all respect highly, whether they’re the trainers, 12 

the grooms, the jockeys.  Yes, input from labor is 13 

critical, backstretch personnel, other veterinarians.  So I 14 

feel, when I used the word earlier, a holistic approach 15 

that has to be included in the plan. 16 

  So those are just some of my points.  I do want 17 

to go off of what Commissioner Mitchell said a moment ago 18 

about whether we should take a pause or stop racing for the 19 

time being?  I feel all options have to be on the table. 20 

  But I do look forward to your comments, Mr. 21 

Chairman, because you of all of us Commissioners are the 22 

one that has a distinguished background in veterinary 23 

medicine.  And I feel that the team that has been put on by 24 

the governor was done in a very thoughtful way, including 25 
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your expertise, Dr. Ferraro. 1 

  So those are my comments.  Thank you. 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Well, and regarding my personal 3 

comments, I agree that there has to be a serious review of 4 

policies and procedures at Los Alamitos.  Not necessarily 5 

that it’s the fault of track management, but I think there 6 

is a culture there amongst the practicing veterinarians and 7 

trainers that are pushing the envelope when it comes to the 8 

safety of these horses.  And, again, I was somewhat 9 

disappointed, although I can understand, with only 24-hour 10 

notice, I would have liked to have heard more from 11 

management in terms of possible avenues of investigation 12 

and a plan laid out as to how this situation could be 13 

improved, a number of fatalities at Los Alamitos and at 14 

Santa Anita that are not acceptable to this Board.  We all 15 

know that. 16 

  At the same time, in the interest of fairness, I 17 

think it would be one step too far to close Los Alamitos 18 

racing altogether without giving them a chance to correct 19 

the situation.  So what I would propose, and I can put in 20 

the form of a motion if you would like, that we give Los 21 

Alamitos a ten-day period where they’re racing operations 22 

are on probation.  And during that ten-day period of time, 23 

we would request that they develop a plan, a feasible plan 24 

that could address the issues that we’re concerned about, 25 
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most primarily the injuries to and deaths of horses on 1 

their racetrack, and the veterinarian training practices 2 

that are in use there. 3 

  At the end of that ten-day period, I would 4 

reconvene this Commission, review the plan, present it to 5 

us by Los Alamitos, get more facts which we definitely need 6 

to make an adequate decision, and at that time we can 7 

address the situation whether or not Los Alamitos license 8 

should be suspended. 9 

  I would solicit comments from the Board regarding 10 

that, opinions. 11 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  Is that ten days of racing 12 

or ten days, just ten days -- 13 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Ten days -- 14 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  -- business days. 15 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- from this date.  Ten days from 16 

this date. 17 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  Okay. 18 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  Dr. Ferraro, this is Oscar. 19 

I’ve got a question for CHRB Staff. 20 

  If this Board decided to pause racing, what is 21 

the soonest an action of ours could effectuate that?  In 22 

other words, if we wanted to opt for a brief stop in racing 23 

while a plan is developed, what’s the soonest we could stop 24 

racing? 25 
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  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  Vice Chairman 1 

Gonzales, this is Scott Chaney. 2 

  Unless either the lawyers on the call correct me, 3 

I’m pretty sure the Board can do it immediately.  4 

  A second comment, with respect to 1435, if 5 

there’s any action taken today by the Board, including what 6 

Dr. Ferraro, the Chairman, just suggested, it does require, 7 

even if it’s, you know, an order to create a plan, I 8 

believe that would kind of be a license restriction, then 9 

we do need to have a ten-day status conference, if you 10 

will.  So in terms of the logistics of that, we would 11 

notice a meeting ten days from now if the Board does take 12 

action. 13 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  Thank you. 14 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  I have a question.  So -- 15 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Go ahead, Wendy. 16 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  -- our next Board meeting 17 

is like six days away; correct?  18 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Correct. 19 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Okay.  So why can’t we 20 

have them come up with a plan for the Board meeting, notice 21 

an emergency hearing for that same day so it’s all done and 22 

not -- it’s a shorter period of time?  Because that’s what 23 

I what I had kind of expected or had hoped more during this 24 

hearing, is a plan. 25 



 

  
 

California Reporting, LLC 
(510) 313-0610 

 
  
 

  72 

  So I realize it’s not noticed but it could be 1 

part, it could be an emergency, you know, meeting for  2 

the -- also that Thursday.  Just a thought, instead of -- 3 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  This -- 4 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  -- waiting until Monday. 5 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  This is Scott.  This 6 

is Scott Chaney, Executive Director. 7 

  Amanda Brown, do you have -- because the 8 

regulation actually says, “The Board shall review any 9 

decisions to suspend the racing license or impose license 10 

restrictions within ten calendar days of that decision.”  11 

  Does that mean it can be sooner or does it have 12 

to be ten days because we actually need that notice? 13 

  MS. BROWN:  Yeah.  So according to the statute, 14 

we’ve interpreted that to mean that, you know, Bagley-Keene 15 

does need to be complied with after this first emergency 16 

hearing.  So any subsequent hearing would need ten days 17 

notice.  So since we did it within 24 hours, today would be 18 

ten days from -- ten calendar days from today, so we would 19 

need to do it on the 20th.  And doing it any sooner would 20 

not provide that proper notice. 21 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Got it.  Okay.  Thank 22 

you. 23 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  Very good. 24 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Any other comments from the 25 
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Board? 1 

  It seems to me that we all agree that we would 2 

demand a plan of action from Los Al to correct this current 3 

situation and to provide us with more information. Am I 4 

correct in that assumption? 5 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  Yes. 6 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  Correct. 7 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Well, then the question becomes 8 

do we suspend for ten days and request that or do we put 9 

them on a period of probation for ten days?  What’s the 10 

pleasure of the Board? 11 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  I don’t think they can get 12 

anything done within six days, to analyze everything and 13 

come up with a plan.  I think you need the ten days.  14 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Should we suspend -- 15 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  And I -- 16 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- Dennis? 17 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  No.  I think we allow 18 

racing to continue and we give them the ten days to come up 19 

with this.  You know, we do our research.  They do their 20 

research.  They come up with their plan.  And then we 21 

decide.  I don’t think we can get anything done in six 22 

days. 23 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Castellanos? 24 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Commissioner 25 
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Castellanos here.  1 

  I agree with what Dennis said.  I was going to 2 

say pretty much the same thing.  Continue racing until both 3 

sides can do an investigation.  And the company has the 4 

right to put together their plan. 5 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Mitchell? 6 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  I’m conflicted, to be 7 

honest with you, because that this is what the bill was 8 

anticipated is to stop racing when there would be an issue, 9 

so I’m conflicted.  I know that’s not decisive but I don’t 10 

know. 11 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  It’s not an easy decision. 12 

  Commissioner Solis? 13 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  I agree with Commissioner 14 

Alfieri and Commissioner Castellanos.  I think we should 15 

let -- keep Los Alamitos racing until they come up with a 16 

plan. 17 

  Commissioner Gonzales? 18 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  I say this from the 19 

standpoint, of what I’m about to say, as somebody who’s 20 

advocated for racing at Los Alamitos.  In fact, one of the 21 

first meetings that I attended at Los Al as a Commissioner 22 

was when there was a dispute about racing dates.  And so I, 23 

you know, really feel that Los Alamitos, especially because 24 

it does involve horsemen and horsewomen at the mid level 25 
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and it does provide a tremendous for Southern California 1 

racing, I’m just drawing on my experience working in 2 

government at multiple levels that building -- that 3 

continuing actions that perhaps are problematic while also 4 

building a plan could compose a challenge. 5 

  So I may deviate from my colleagues on the Board 6 

in suggesting just a three-day, that would be, you know, 7 

starting Saturday, Friday, and the next Saturday, to pause 8 

racing until this plan is developed.  I realize I may be in 9 

a minority but I just believe that we have to take a very, 10 

very hard look at what’s causing the trend.  We are in very 11 

uncertain times as it is.  But I also want to defer to the 12 

experts who are on the ground, as in Dr. Fitzgerald and Dr. 13 

Arthur and you, Dr. Ferraro, about what you feel is a 14 

reasonable approach. 15 

  But I will, again, just to reiterate, I would be 16 

okay if we did pause racing just for a few evening racing 17 

dates until we figure this problem out. 18 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  I think it would be doubtful that 19 

we could come up with anything meaningful at all in three 20 

days, particularly over a weekend.  I mean, it just takes 21 

more time and conferences to figure this out, so I don’t 22 

know that we can get it done in three days, Oscar.  I 23 

understand where you’re coming from. 24 

  The other thing, the one comment I want to make 25 
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before I make a motion, whether it carries or not, is that 1 

this problem is Los Alamitos’s problem to solve, not the 2 

Commission’s problem to solve.  The Commission can improve 3 

it and will assist in any way it can but it’s really Los 4 

Alamitos’s problem to solve. 5 

  My feeling, and it will be reflected in the 6 

motion I’m about to make, is that I would rather bend over 7 

backwards and attempt to be fair to Los Alamitos than to 8 

seem to be punitive without adequate information. 9 

  So therefore I would make a motion that we put 10 

Los Alamitos’s racing dates on a probationary status for 11 

ten days at which time will reconvene to assess and expect 12 

from Los Alamitos a plan of action to preclude a number of 13 

racing injuries they’re currently experiencing. 14 

  And can I have a second for that motion? 15 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  I’ll second that motion.  16 

Alfieri. 17 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Okay.  Discussion by the Board -- 18 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  What -- 19 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  -- on that? 20 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  This is Commissioner 21 

Mitchell.  What -- this is Commissioner Mitchell.  Can you 22 

hear me?  23 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yes. 24 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Okay.  Sorry. 25 
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  What is their license being on probation actually 1 

mean? 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Well, it means that if they don’t 3 

come up with a plan in ten days, we have -- we’re putting 4 

them on notice that we will suspend their license. 5 

  Comments from the Staff about that? 6 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  Yeah.  This is Scott 7 

Chaney, Executive Director.  8 

  I don’t have any specific comments.  The 1435 9 

gives the Board great latitude in terms of what it can do, 10 

in terms of conditions and restriction.  So it’s really 11 

completely up to the Board. 12 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  So shall we vote on the motion 13 

and see what happens? 14 

  Commissioner Gonzales? 15 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  Yes. 16 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Alfieri? 17 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  Yes. 18 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Castellanos? 19 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Yes. 20 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Mitchell? 21 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  No. 22 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Solis? 23 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  Yes. 24 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Chairman Ferraro, yes.  Motion 25 
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carries. 1 

  Any other comments from the Staff?  Do you 2 

understand what we’re after here (indiscernible)? 3 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  This is Scott Chaney, 4 

Executive Director.  Quick question for Amanda Brown. 5 

  Does there have to be some sort of written notice 6 

with respect to what the California Horse Racing Board is 7 

doing right now or is what they just did sufficient? 8 

  MS. BROWN:  We’re supposed to release a written 9 

statement as soon as we can and post it online. 10 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  Okay.  All right.  11 

We’ll do that.  And then we’ll also notice today with the 12 

ten-day notice the meeting for July 20th, if that makes 13 

sense? 14 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Yeah.  Correct.  And can you keep 15 

Chairman and Vice Chairman and any other members of the 16 

Board, if necessary, abreast of the negotiations or plans 17 

that are -- as they evolve over the next ten days please? 18 

  EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHANEY:  Yes, sir. 19 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  All right.  Can I have a motion 20 

to adjourn? 21 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  So moved.  Alfieri. 22 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Second? 23 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  I second.  Alex Solis 24 

seconds. 25 
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  CHAIR FERRARO:  Okay.  Commissioner Gonzales? 1 

  VICE CHAIR GONZALES:  Aye. 2 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Alfieri? 3 

  COMMISSIONER ALFIERI:  Yes. 4 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Castellanos? 5 

  COMMISSIONER CASTELLANOS:  Aye. 6 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Mitchell? 7 

  COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Aye. 8 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Commissioner Solis? 9 

  COMMISSIONER SOLIS:  Yes. 10 

  CHAIR FERRARO:  Chairman Ferraro votes yes. 11 

  Thank you all for your participation.  We look 12 

forward to our meeting on Thursday and our next hearing ten 13 

days from now.  Thank you very much. 14 

(The teleconference emergency meeting of the  15 

California Horse Racing Board  16 

adjourned at 11:27 a.m.) 17 
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the time and  place therein stated; that the 

testimony of said witnesses were reported by me, 
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disinterested person, and was under my 

supervision thereafter transcribed into 

typewriting. 

 

And I further certify that I am not of 

counsel or attorney for either or any of the 
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in the outcome of the cause named in said 
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   by me, a certified transcriber and a   

   disinterested person, and was under my   

   supervision thereafter transcribed into  

   typewriting. 

                      And I further certify that I am not  

   of counsel or attorney for either or any of  

   the parties to said hearing nor in any way  
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